2015

**The State of Utah, Plaintiff/Appellee, vs Russell Edward Yalowski,
Defendant/Appellant.**

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION

Utah Code §78A-4-103(2)(e) provides jurisdiction. *See* Addendum A.

ISSUES, STANDARDS OF REVIEW, PRESERVATION

Issue I: Whether Yalowski is entitled to a new trial where the trial court precluded him from cross-examining the State's complaining witness regarding her prior acts of dishonesty that were probative of the witness' character for untruthfulness and motive to testify falsely.

Standard of Review/Preservation: "When reviewing a trial court's decision to limit cross-examination, [this Court] review[s] the legal rule applied for correctness and the application of the rule to the facts of the case for an abuse of discretion." *State v. Chavez*, 2002 UT App 9, ¶17, 41 P.3d 1137, 1140. This Court's "review of the trial court's exercise of its discretion includes ensuring 'that no mistakes of law affected a lower court's use of its discretion.'" *Robinson v. Taylor*, 2015 UT 69, ¶8. This issue is

preserved. *See infra* Part I.C. Or, to the extent this Court disagrees, the issue may be reviewed for plain error. *See id.*

Issue II: Whether the trial court committed reversible error where it admitted lay opinion testimony regarding shoe impression evidence that required specialized knowledge and was not helpful to the jury.

Standard of Review/Preservation: This Court “review[s] decisions relating to the qualification of a witness as an expert or as a lay witness for an abuse of discretion.” *State v. Rothlisberger*, 2004 UT App 226, ¶9, *aff’d*, 2006 UT 49, ¶¶8-9. This Court’s “review of the district court’s exercise of its discretion ‘include[s] review to ensure that no mistakes of law affected a lower court’s use of its discretion.’” *Eskelson ex rel. Eskelson v. Davis Hosp. & Med. Ctr.*, 2010 UT 59, ¶5, 242 P.3d 762. The issue is preserved. *See infra* Part II.C. Or, to the extent it is not preserved, this Court should review the issue for plain error. *See id.*

Issue III: Whether the trial court erred in denying the defense’s motion for a mistrial where the State’s complaining witness testified about Yalowski’s prior acts of violence in violation of rule 404(b) after the State stipulated and the trial court agreed that the testimony was inadmissible.

Standard of Review/Preservation: This Court “review[s] a trial court’s denial of a motion for mistrial for abuse of discretion.” *State v. Decorso*, 1999 UT 57, ¶38, 993 P.2d 837. This issue is preserved. *See* R.167:8-9 (counsel informing the court of Yalowski’s stipulation with the State regarding the 404(b) evidence); 167:92-93, 155-56 (counsel

objecting to the witnesses testimony and moving for a mistrial); 167:155-57 (court considering counsel's arguments and denying the motion for a mistrial).

Issue IV: Whether cumulative error requires reversal.

Standard of Review/Preservation: A claim of cumulative error "requires [this Court] to apply the standard of review applicable to each underlying claim of error."

Radman v. Flanders Corp., 2007 UT App 351, ¶4, 172 P.3d 668. Preservation is inapplicable.

STATUTES/RULES/CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS

The following are in Addendum B: Utah Const. art. I, §12; U.S. Const. amend. VI; Utah R. Evid. 403, 404(b), 608, 701.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On March 27, 2014, Yalowski was charged by information with burglary, a second degree felony in violation of Utah Code §76-6-202; lewdness, a class B misdemeanor in violation of Utah Code §76-9-702(1); threat of violence, a class B misdemeanor, in violation of Utah Code §76-5-107; and criminal mischief, a class B misdemeanor, in violation of Utah Code §76-6-106(2)(c). R.1-3. At a preliminary hearing held on May 15, 2014, Yalowski was bound over on all counts. R.22-23.

A 2-day jury trial was held on December 2, 2014 through December 3, 2014. R.71-75, 167-168. The jury found Yalowski guilty of burglary, threat of violence, and criminal mischief, but acquitted him of lewdness. R.101. On May 16, 2015, the trial court sentenced Yalowski to an indeterminate term of 1-15 years for burglary, 6 months jail for threat of violence, and 6 months jail for criminal mischief. R.145-146. The court ordered

that the jail sentences run consecutive, but gave Yalowski credit for one year of time served. R.145-146. Yalowski timely appealed. R.153-54.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Background

Bradi Richards and Russell Yalowski knew each other for approximately 18 years before they started dating in December, 2012. R.167:91-92. By December 2013, Richards alleged that “[t]hings were really rocky” and ended her relationship with Yalowski.

R.167:91-92.

On the evening of December 20, 2013, Richards was home with her four children. R.167:95. She had been drinking, testifying that she had consumed one or two shots of alcohol that night. R.167:128. Her cousin, Jennie Lee Tabora, and her three children were staying with Richards, and Tabora was downstairs with most of the children watching TV. R.167:138-40. Richards and Yalowski had exchanged text messages that day, but Richards claimed that she did not invite Yalowski to her home. R.167:94.

Richards went to the upstairs bathroom to rinse off in the tub. R.167:96-97; 122. According to Richards, she was in the bathroom for just a “few minutes” when she heard “a loud bang.” R.167:97-98. She alleged that she heard a second loud bang at which time she opened the shower curtain and saw Yalowski standing in the bathroom. R.167:97-98; 122. Tabora testified that she heard two loud bangs as well. R.167:139-40.

In the bathroom, Richards claimed that Yalowski “threaten[ed]” her, telling her that he was going to rip her shirt off and that “he had about eight N words” outside

“waiting to shoot up the house.” R.167:98-100. She believed Yalowski had been drinking and testified that he began to urinate on the bathroom walls with his genitalia visible.

R.167:99, 125-126. Tabora “heard them arguing upstairs” and later went upstairs to find Richards and Yalowski “bickering.” R.167:140-41.

Richards claimed that she then dialed 911 from her bedroom phone as Yalowski and Tabora were in the hallway, but hung up because she was afraid Yalowski would overhear. R.167:101. The 911 operator called back several times, but Richards claimed that she did not want Yalowski to see “Unified Police Department” on the caller ID, so she proceeded to answer and hang up the phone a number of times. R.167:102. Richards and Yalowski then went outside. R.167:102. Richards claimed that Yalowski threatened to “rip[] off [her] shirt” and “take [her] somewhere and beat [her] up and leave [her] for dead where nobody could find [her].” R.167:102.

Meanwhile, Tabora claimed she did not want to be present during Yalowski and Richards’s argument, so she called a friend for a ride. R.167:103-04; 140-43. While Tabora was in the process of moving her belongings and children out to her friend’s car, she and Yalowski had a conversation outside. R.167:142-43. Tabora did not remember what they discussed, but claimed that she remembered Yalowski asking, “Can I have a cigarette? I think I’m going to jail.” R.167:142. As Yalowski and Tabora were outside, Richards went back into the house, spoke to the 911 operator, and returned outside. R.167:103-04, 129-30.

The police arrived and arrested Yalowski. R.167:162. A search of his person revealed a key to Richards’s house and car. R.167:104-05, 164; 168:19-20. Richards

claimed Yalowski had taken the keys earlier that week without her permission. R.167:94, 104-05. Police also took Yalowski's shoes into evidence, and forensic technician Alan Kalinowski later took photographs of various shoe impressions in the snow around the property. R.167:198-200, 204. He also photographed damage to the backdoor and bathroom door, which Richards and Tabora claimed did not exist prior to Yalowski's arrival that evening. R.167:105-06; 108-16, 141, 145-48, 204; Exhs. 4-17. Although several sets of pry marks were found on the door, no tool that could have been used to pry open the door was located. R.167:188-89, 214. Additionally, police did not observe or recover any evidence of urine in the bathroom. R.167:187, 212-13; 168:25.

The Trial

Richards's Prior Acts of Misconduct: Before the jury was impaneled, the defense sought to introduce three instances of Richards's prior misconduct under rule 608 of the Utah Rules of Evidence. R.167:10. These acts included (1) a plea in abeyance for theft by deception, (2) using a false name to enter the jail to visit Yalowski, and (3) a June, 2014 arrest for theft by deception and giving a false name to a police officer. R.167:10. The court allowed Yalowski to cross-examine Richards about using a false name to enter the jail. R.167:15-16, 131. However, without conducting any analysis, the trial court summarily denied Yalowski's motion to cross-examine Richards regarding the plea in abeyance and 2014 arrests. R.167:15-16.

Shoe Impression Evidence: Yalowski also made a motion in limine to exclude any testimony that the shoe impressions found at Richards's home matched Yalowski's footwear. R.167:9. Yalowski argued that an expert, rather than a lay witness, was

required for this testimony. R.167:9. The court explained that it would “have to rule on that when [it] hear[d] what the witness sa[id],” but thought “a layperson could say something to the effect that ‘[t]hat footprint looks a lot like his shoe.’” R.167:9-10. However, the court continued, “if the witness is going to say, ‘I’ve done an expert examination, I’ve matched tread’ and so forth, then he probably couldn’t go that far.” R.167:9-10.

Later, the court allowed forensic technician Kalinowski, a lay witness, to compare the shoe prints with Yalowski’s shoes and present various opinions. R.167:205-11. At one point, Kalinowski testified that the tread pattern of one shoe impression was “identical” to the Nike sneakers recovered from Yalowski. R.167:208; State’s Exh. 35. Also, looking at a photograph of the door, *see* State’s Exhs. 43-45, Kalinowski testified that

“[although] there’s not much of a shoe impression on the top, . . . you can see . . . down the side here you have that same, similar, block cut pattern on the side of the shoe indicating more of an angled hit towards the door. Therefore, you wouldn’t see much of the shoe itself, but more of the side of the shoe.”

R.167:209-10.

Yalowski’s Prior Bad Acts: Prior to trial, the State and defense stipulated and the court agreed that evidence of Yalowski’s prior bad acts under Rule 404(b) would not be admitted. R.167:8-9. The prosecutor instructed Richards accordingly. R.167:93. Nevertheless, shortly into her direct-examination, Richards testified that Yalowski “was constantly accusing [her] of things [she] wasn’t doing and just constantly fighting with

[her]. *Getting violent.*” R.167:92 (emphasis added). Yalowski immediately objected and moved for a mistrial, which was denied. R.167:93, 155-57.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Issue I: The trial court committed reversible error by limiting Yalowski’s right to cross-examine Richards regarding a theft by deception plea in abeyance as well as a 2014 arrest for giving a false name to a police officer and theft by deception. Testing a witness’ credibility is a critical function of the constitutionally guaranteed right of cross-examination, and a defendant must be permitted to introduce all admissible evidence relevant to this purpose. Richards’s prior acts of misconduct were highly probative of her character for truthfulness and motive to testify falsely, and they were admissible under rules 608 and 403 of the Utah Rules of Evidence. By foreclosing cross-examination on these acts without a proper justification, Yalowski was deprived of the right to impeach Richards’s credibility and to subject the State’s case to meaningful adversarial testing. Yalowski’s case requires reversal because the court’s error in limiting his cross-examination was not harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

Issue II: This Court should reverse because the trial court improperly admitted lay opinion testimony that was not helpful to the jury and required specialized knowledge regarding the complexities of shoe impression evidence. Under rule 701 of the Utah Rules of Evidence, lay opinion testimony must be helpful to the jury’s understanding of a fact in issue and cannot be based on scientific, technical, or other specialized knowledge. In this case, Kalinowski, a lay witness, offered opinions regarding shoe impression evidence that were unfounded and misleading and required a degree of knowledge well

outside the ken of the average bystander. Accordingly, Kalinowski's opinions were inadmissible under rule 701, and the trial court erroneously admitted them. Furthermore, the court's error prejudiced Yalowski because there is a reasonable likelihood that he would have enjoyed a more favorable outcome but for Kalinowski's improper lay opinion testimony.

Issue III: Reversal is required because the trial court erred by denying Yalowski's motion for mistrial after Richards testified about Yalowski's prior acts of violence in violation of rule 404(b) of the Utah Rules of Evidence. Richards's testimony that Yalowski previously became "violent" constituted 404(b) evidence. And, the State stipulated and the trial court agreed that this testimony was inadmissible. Particularly where he was deprived of an opportunity to attack the credibility and character of Richards, Yalowski was prejudiced by this 404(b) evidence, which had a tendency to cast him as a bad person with a proclivity to commit violent acts. There is a reasonable likelihood that Yalowski would have enjoyed a more favorable result if the jury did not hear evidence about him "getting violent," and the trial court erred by denying his motion for a mistrial.

Issue IV: Collectively, these errors undermine confidence in the fairness of Yalowski's trial. Thus, cumulative error requires reversal.

ARGUMENT

I. THIS COURT SHOULD REVERSE BECAUSE THE TRIAL COURT PRECLUDED YALOWSKI FROM CROSS-EXAMINING THE STATE'S COMPLAINING WITNESS REGARDING PRIOR ACTS OF DISHONESTY THAT WERE PROBATIVE OF THE WITNESS' CHARACTER FOR UNTRUTHFULNESS AND MOTIVE TO TESTIFY FALSELY.

The trial court committed reversible error by limiting Yalowski's right to cross-examine the State's complaining witness regarding a theft by deception plea in abeyance as well as a 2014 arrest for giving a false name to a police officer and theft by deception. The credibility of the complaining witness, Bradi Richards, was crucial to the State's case, and it was necessary that Yalowski be allowed to conduct as full an impeachment of her credibility as the rules of evidence allow. Her prior arrest and plea in abeyance were highly probative of her capacity for telling the truth and her motive to testify falsely. Moreover, these prior acts of misconduct were admissible under rules 608 and 403 of the Utah Rules of Evidence. Therefore, the trial court erred by depriving Yalowski of a meaningful opportunity to test Richards's credibility through cross-examination.

"The right to cross-examine is an invaluable right embodied in Article I, Section 12 of the Utah Constitution and in the Sixth Amendment of the United States Constitution which assures the right to confrontation." *State v. Maestas*, 564 P.2d 1386, 1387 (Utah 1977). As Utah appellate courts recognize "[a] complete defense includes 'the right to conduct reasonable cross-examination.'" *State v. Marks*, 2011 UT App 262, ¶13, 262 P.3d 13. "[T]he right of confrontation and cross-examination is an essential and fundamental requirement for the kind of fair trial which is this country's constitutional goal." *Pointer v. Texas*, 380 U.S. 400, 405 (1965). It "is the principal means by which the

believability of a witness and the truth of his testimony are tested.” *Davis v. Alaska*, 415 U.S. 308, 316 (1974). Thus, a defendant must ““be permitted to introduce all relevant and admissible evidence.”” *State v. Moton*, 749 P.2d 639, 644 (Utah 1988). “[T]he scope of cross-examination as to credibility is and must be broad if it is to fulfill its designated purpose of exposing bias and purging testimony of intended or unintended error.” *State v. Leonard*, 707 P.2d 650, 656 (Utah 1985). Otherwise, these constitutional rights “would be . . . empty one[s] if the State were permitted to exclude competent, reliable evidence bearing on . . . credibility . . . when such evidence is central to the defendant’s claim of innocence.” *Crane v. Kentucky*, 476 U.S. 683, 690 (1986).

Although the trial court may exercise its discretion to exclude evidence, “there must be a proper basis for doing so.” *State v. Sheehan*, 2012 UT App 62, ¶¶29, 36, 273 P.3d 417; *see also State v. Chavez*, 2002 UT App 9, ¶¶19, 21, 41 P.3d 1137. “[T]o protect [a defendant’s] Confrontation Clause rights,” any limitation on a defendant’s right to cross-examine a State witness should be “narrowly tailored.” *Chavez*, 2002 UT App 9, ¶19. “[I]n the absence of any valid state justification,” exclusion of evidence challenging a witness’ credibility ““deprives a defendant of the basic right to have the prosecutor’s case encounter and survive the crucible of meaningful adversarial testing.”” *Sheehan*, 2012 UT App 62, ¶29.

In this case, the defense sought to introduce three instances of Richards’s prior misconduct under rule 608 of the Utah Rules of Evidence. R.167:10. These acts included (1) a plea in abeyance for theft by deception, (2) using a false name to enter the jail to visit Yalowski, and (3) a June, 2014 arrest for theft by deception and giving a false name

to a police officer. R.167:10. Counsel argued that “two out of the three of these [acts were] fairly recent” and “involve[d] acts of deception with the intent to gain something” as well as “lying to the police” and “lying to the jail.” R.167:10-11. The prosecutor did not contest that Richards committed these acts of misconduct, but argued that they were uncharged and not felony convictions. R.167:11. The court allowed Yalowski to cross-examine Richards about using a false name to enter the jail. R.167:15-16, 131. However, without conducting any analysis, the trial court denied Yalowski’s motion to cross-examine Richards regarding the plea in abeyance and 2014 arrest. R.167:15.

Because the theft by deception plea in abeyance and 2014 arrest were relevant and admissible under rules 608 and 403, the trial court lacked a proper basis for excluding the evidence. Yalowski was therefore deprived of the “‘basic right to have the prosecutor’s case encounter and survive the crucible of meaningful adversarial testing.’” *Sheehan*, 2012 UT App 62, ¶29. And, Yalowski’s inability to cross-examine Richards regarding these acts of misconduct was not harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. The issue is preserved. Or, to the extent it is not preserved, this Court should review the issue for plain error.

A. The Trial Court Erred By Limiting Yalowski’s Cross-examination Of Richards Regarding Her Prior Plea In Abeyance And 2014 Arrest; This Misconduct Was Highly Probative Of Richards’s Credibility And Admissible Under Rules 608 And 403.

Rule 608 ensures a meaningful right to cross-examine witnesses by allowing inquiry into specific instances of conduct that are probative of a witness’ character for

truthfulness and motive to testify falsely. *See* Utah R. Evid. 608. The rule provides in relevant part:

(b) **Specific Instances of Conduct.** Except for a criminal conviction under Rule 609, extrinsic evidence is not admissible to prove specific instances of a witness' conduct in order to attack or support the witness' character for truthfulness. But the court may, on cross-examination, allow them to be inquired into if they are probative of the character for truthfulness or untruthfulness of:

- (1) the witness; or
- (2) another witness whose character the witness being cross-examined has testified about.

...

(c) **Evidence of Bias.** Bias, prejudice or any motive to misrepresent may be shown to impeach the witness either by examination of the witness or by other evidence.

Utah R. Evid. 608.

Under rule 608(b), a witness may be cross-examined regarding specific instances of conduct if they are probative of a witness' character for truthfulness or untruthfulness. Utah R. Evid. 608; *Robinson*, 2015 UT 69, ¶15; *State v. Hackford*, 737 P.2d 200, 202 (Utah 1987). Meanwhile, admission is proper under rule 608(c) "if a prior instance of conduct is relevant to a witness'[s] bias or motive to testify differently than would otherwise be the case." *Hackford*, 737 P.2d at 203. ¹

Both subsections (b) and (c) permit impeachment by specific acts that did not result in a criminal conviction. *Robinson*, 2015 UT 69, ¶¶15-21. Additionally, evidence

¹ Rule 608(b) permits cross-examination about prior acts relevant to truthfulness, but does not allow extrinsic evidence to rebut a false answer. *State v. Campos*, 2013 UT App 213, ¶¶90-91, 309 P.3d 1160. Unlike rule 608(b), however, "[e]xtrinsic evidence pertaining to a prior instance of conduct is . . . admissible to show a witness' bias or motive to testify." *Black v. Hennig*, 2012 UT App 259, ¶15, 286 P.3d 1256.

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