Brigham Young University Law School BYU Law Digital Commons

Utah Court of Appeals Briefs (2007-)

2016

State of Utah, Plaintiff/Appellee, v Russell Edward Yalowski

Utah Court of Appeals

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

And even if specific instances might technically be admissible under rule 608(b), cross-examination of a witness's character for truthfulness or untruthfulness "may still be limited or prohibited by the trial court in its sound discretion under rule 403." *Gomez*, 2002 UT 120, ¶33.

A trial court's ruling under rules 608(b) and 403 is not reversed "unless it is manifest that the trial court so abused its discretion that there is

-20-

a likelihood that injustice resulted." *Gomez*, 2002 UT 120, ¶12 (citation and internal quotation marks omitted). In other words, Defendant must also show that prohibiting him from asking the victim about the dismissed plea in abeyance and an arrest that never resulted in charges prejudiced him. *See id.; State v. Aleh*, 2015 UT App 195, ¶¶19, 28, 357 P.3d 12 (affirming trial court's rule 608(b) ruling because Aleh had not shown prejudice). To prove that, Defendant must show a reasonable probability of a different outcome if he had been allowed to ask about the plea in abeyance and arrest. *Aleh*, 2015 UT App 195, ¶¶19.

Defendant argues that because the trial court's rule 608(b) ruling "implicates" his "constitutional rights to confrontation and crossexamination," this Court must reverse unless it finds the error harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. Br. Aplt. 21-22. Defendant's argument mistakenly assumes that "a violation of an evidentiary rule equals a constitutional violation." *State v. Hackford*, 737 P.2d 200, 205 (Utah 1987). But the Utah Supreme Court has held—in the rule 608(b) context—that it does not: "the evidentiary standards and the constitutional guarantee are not and ought not to be entirely coextensive." *Id. Cf. Aleh*, 2015 UT App 195, ¶¶19-28 (assuming "evidentiary error" in rule 608(b) ruling and applying ordinary prejudice standard). Defendant has not shown that the

-21-

modest limits placed on his cross-examination of the victim amounted to a denial of his constitutional right to confrontation, as opposed to a run-ofthe-mill evidentiary error. But even if he had, those limits were harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

C. Any error in the trial court's rule 608(b) ruling was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

This Court may easily dispose of this claim on harmlessness grounds. *See Aleh*, 2015 UT App 195, ¶19 (affirming 608(b) ruling limiting cross-examination on lack of prejudice alone).

At bottom, Defendant's prejudice argument rests on the premise that the State's case turned on the victim's credibility. Br. Aplt. 22-27. According to Defendant, "little" corroborated the victim's testimony, "and the State's case was not otherwise strong." Br. Aplt. 23. Defendant acknowledges that he was allowed to cross-examine the victim about using a false name to visit him, but argues this was not enough to "expose" the victim's "motive to lie and [to] reveal her incapacity for truthfulness." Br. Aplt. 25.

In fact, the State's case neither rose nor fell on the victim's credibility. The unrefuted physical evidence and other witnesses fully corroborated the victim's testimony concerning each of the crimes Defendant was convicted of – burglary, threat of violence, and criminal mischief. Both the victim and the cousin heard two loud bangs just before Defendant appeared in the

-22-

house. R167:97, 122, 139-40. Both testified that upon entering the home, Defendant yelled at the victim upstairs. R167:97-98, 101, 124, 139-40, 150. The cousin was frightened enough by the loud bangs and Defendant's yelling that she hid in a closet with the children. R167:140, 150. And the victim was frightened enough to call 911. R167:101-04.

Photos of the extensive damage to the backdoor and bathroom door corroborated the victim's and cousin's testimony of the two loud bangs. *See* Addendum B. Both the victim and her cousin testified that the damage had not been there before Defendant appeared that night. R167:105-06, 141, 145. Fresh shoe impressions in the snow and marks on the backdoor looked like the tread on Defendant's shoes. R167:166-67, 174-83, 207-10. And police arrived to find Defendant still there, the victim looking frightened, and the missing house and car keys in Defendant's pocket. R167:105, 163-64; R168:14, 19-20.

The loud bangs, the newly broken doors, Defendant's yelling and threatening behavior, and Defendant's shoe impressions all corroborated the victim's testimony that Defendant had entered her home without her permission (burglary), that he threatened her (threat of violence), and that he broke her two doors (criminal mischief).

-23-

In light of this unrefuted corroborating evidence, asking the victim about a dismissed plea in abeyance and about an arrest for theft by deception that never resulted in charges would not have convinced the jury that she was lying about whether Defendant had her permission to be in her home or whether he had threatened her. The jury's acquittal on lewdness the one count supported solely by the victim's uncorroborated testimony supports this conclusion.

Moreover, this is not a case where Defendant was denied any opportunity to challenge the victim's credibility. While Defendant could not ask about the plea in abeyance or the uncharged arrest, he was allowed to ask about using a false name to contact Defendant. And he argued that this incident made the victim unworthy of belief. R168:169-70. He also cross-examined the victim about apparent discrepancies in her story and inconsistencies with her prior testimony.

While the Defendant may have wanted more, he was not entitled to unlimited cross-examination. *See State v. Calliham*, 2002 UT 87, ¶31, 57 P.3d 220 (right to cross-examine not unlimited). Certainly, he has not shown on this record that allowing him incremental cross-examination about a dismissed plea in abeyance and an uncharged arrest would have made the

-24-

jury disregard the unrefuted evidence corroborating her story. This Court should affirm the trial court for this reason alone.

D. The trial court properly exercised its discretion to preclude cross-examination on a dismissed plea in abeyance and an uncharged arrest.

The trial court's 608 ruling was well within its discretion in any event. On appeal, Defendant challenges the trial court's ruling under rules 608(b), 608(c), and 403. Br. Aplt. 12-20. Defendant has not shown that the trial court stepped outside its discretion under rules 608(b) and 403. This Court should not reach Defendant's rule 608(c) argument because it is unpreserved and he only nominally argues plain error. But even if this Court reaches the issue, Defendant has shown no abuse of discretion under that rule either.

1. The trial court was well within its discretion under rules 608(b) and 403.

As stated, a trial court has broad discretion "to allow or disallow inquiry" into a witness's prior bad acts under rule 608(b), even when probative of the witness's truthfulness or untruthfulness. *Valdez*, 2006 UT App 290, ¶9. *See also Gomez*, 2002 UT 120, ¶12. This is because evidence admissible under rule 608(b) "may still be limited or prohibited by the trial court in its sound discretion under rule 403." *Gomez*, 2002 UT 120, ¶33.

-25-

The "'court's job," in "the interplay of rules 608(b) and 403," is "'to balance the probative value of specific-instances evidence against the potential dangers and costs of that evidence." *Id.* at ¶34 (quoting 28 Charles Alan Wright & Victor James Gold, *Federal Practice and Procedure: Evidence* § 6118, at 94 (1993)). The court does this by evaluating "the extent to which the proposed testimony is probative of truthfulness or untruthfulness" and "the degree to which the proffered testimony may tend to inflame or prejudice the jury," and then balancing those concerns to decide "whether the danger of unfair prejudice substantially outweighs the testimony's probative value." *Id.* at ¶33.

Assessing the "degree of probative value" is "a function of several factors," such as, "the relative importance of the [witness's] credibility"; "the extent to which the evidence is probative of other relevant matters"; "the extent to which the circumstances surrounding the specific instances of conduct are similar to the circumstances surrounding" the witness's testimony; "the remoteness in time of the specific instances to trial"; and "the likelihood that the alleged specific instances of conduct in fact occurred." *Id.* at ¶35.

The trial court here did not expressly do a rule 403 balancing on the record, although Defendant's 403 argument shows that the court considered

-26-

it. R167:10-11 (defense arguing that trial court would need to balance probative value against danger of unfair prejudice). But even without a rule 403 balancing on the record, this Court may "still affirm if [it] can find some basis in the record for concluding that the trial court's action falls within the limits of permissible discretion under Rule 403." *State v. Hackford,* 737 P.2d 200, 204 (Utah 1987). Such a basis is in this record.

First, the dismissed plea in abeyance and uncharged arrest had minimal probative value to whether the victim was telling the truth here. As explained, the victim's credibility was not a crucial issue where her testimony on the convicted counts was fully corroborated by unrefuted physical evidence and her cousin's testimony. Thus, while a theft by deception and giving a false name for a police officer might be relevant to the victim's general character for truthfulness or untruthfulness, it was only marginally relevant to whether she was telling the truth here. Also, the defense proffer about the plea in abeyance and the arrest was too vague to say whether they involved specific instances of conduct similar to the

-27-

circumstances here.⁶ And while the arrest was six months before trial, Defendant never proffered when the dismissed plea in abeyance was. Finally, given that the arrest never resulted in charges, the trial court could have reasonably viewed it as a mere allegation of misconduct. *See Valdez*, 2006 UT App 290, ¶16 ("the probative value of the circumstances surrounding [the victim's] dismissed charge is negligible in light of other similar impeachment evidence and because a dismissed charge is merely an allegation of misconduct"); *see also Gomez*, 2002 UT 120, ¶35 (likelihood that alleged specific instance of conduct in fact occurred relevant to degree of probative value).

Second, the evidence's minimal probative value was substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice and confusing the issues. *See* Utah R. Evid. 403. Given the strong corroborating evidence, it was unlikely to have any effect other than to embarrass the victim and to distract the jury from the real issue: whether Defendant broke into her home and threatened her.

⁶Defendant bore the burden below to proffer sufficient information for the trial court to assess the probative value of the evidence. *Aleh*, 2015 UT App 195, ¶24 (under rules of evidence, "a party may claim error in a ruling excluding evidence only if, among other things, that 'party informs the court of its substance by an offer of proof, unless the substance was apparent from the context'") (quoting Utah R. Evid. 103(a)). His failure to do so counts against him, not the trial court. *Id*.

This case is much like *State v. Gomez*, 2002 UT 120, where the Utah Supreme Court held that the trial court was well within its discretion to preclude questioning into a rape victim's alleged use of a false identification card to engage in underage drinking. *Gomez*, 2002 UT 120, ¶¶7, 33-36. The supreme court agreed with the trial court that any probative value was "fairly low" and that it was outweighed by "the potential of the testimony to inflame the jury and distract them from the real issue in the case," which was the rape charge against Gomez and the victim's credibility. *Id.* at ¶36.

This case is an even easier call than *Gomez* was. Unlike here, Gomez's guilt turned on whether the jury believed the victim when she said she did not consent. *Id.* at ¶¶1-5, 7. If it was not an abuse of discretion to limit cross-examination on the use of a false identification when the victim's credibility is the sole issue, it cannot be an abuse of discretion to limit cross-examination on a dismissed plea in abeyance and an uncharged arrest for theft by deception when the victim's credibility is not the sole issue.

This case is also like *State v. Valdez*, 2006 UT 290. The trial court there would not allow Valdez to question the rape victim about a dismissed charge of false information. *Id.* at ¶¶8-17. Like in *Gomez*, and unlike here, Valdez's case turned largely on the victim's credibility. *Id.* at ¶10. This Court nevertheless held that the trial court was well within its discretion to

-29-

exclude the dismissed charge, partly because Valdez was allowed to impeach the victim with a prior forgery conviction, but also because the probative value of a "dismissed charge is negligible," where it is "merely an allegation of misconduct." *Id.* at ¶16. Again, if a trial court is within its discretion to limit cross-examination on a dismissed charge of false information when the victim's credibility is the crucial issue, it must also be within its discretion to limit cross-examination on a dismissed plea in abeyance and an arrest for theft by deception when the victim's credibility is not the crucial issue. This is particularly true where, like Valdez, Defendant was allowed to inquire into another specific instance of conduct—using a false identification.

2. This Court should not reach Defendant's unpreserved rule 608(c) argument where he only nominally asserts plain error.

As stated, Defendant also argues that the victim's plea in abeyance and arrest were admissible under rule 608(c). Br. Aplt. 17-18. That rule states that "[b]ias, prejudice or any motive to misrepresent may be shown to impeach the witness either by examination of the witness or by other evidence." Utah R. Evid. 608(c). Defendant argues that the victim's dismissed plea in abeyance and uncharged arrest were "highly probative of her motive to testify falsely." Br. Aplt. 17.

-30-

Defendant did not preserve his rule 608(c) claim below. While Defendant cited generally to rule 608, he confined his argument to the language of rule 608(b). R167:10-11. He spoke only in terms of "specific instances" of prior dishonesty and "examples of conduct probative of truthfulness or untruthfulness." R167:10-11. He never uttered the words in rule 608(c): "bias," "prejudice," or "motive to misrepresent." And he expressly invoked *State v. Gomez*, which addressed only rule 608(b). R167:10-11.

To obtain review of an unpreserved claim, a defendant must show plain error. *See State v. Rhinehart*, 2007 UT 61, ¶21, 167 P.3d 1046. Here, Defendant only nominally argues that the trial court plainly erred under rule 608. Br. Aplt. 27-28. His two-paragraph plain error argument does no more than set out the plain error standard and then assert that the alleged error "was obvious in light of case law stressing the importance of crossexamination and emphasizing that 'the scope of cross-examination as to credibility . . . must be broad.'" Br. Aplt. 28 (quoting *State v.* Leonard, 707 P.2d 650, 656 (Utah 1985)). His argument, however, ignores the case law stating that the right to cross-examine is not unlimited and that a trial court has broad discretion to impose reasonable limitations on it. *See, e.g., State v. Calliham*, 2002 UT 87, ¶31; *State v. Hackford*, 737 P.2d 200, 203 (Utah 1987).

-31-

Defendant also does not even bother to separate his rule 608(b) and 608(c) arguments in this section, even though the requirements are very different. This is reason alone to disregard Defendant's rule 608(c) argument. *See Rhinehart*, 2007 UT 61, ¶21 (unpreserved argument must be briefed through lens of exception to preservation rule).

Defendant cannot show plain error anyway because, as explained, he hasn't shown prejudice. *See State v. Dean*, 2004 UT 63, ¶15, 95 P.3d 263 (plain error requires appellant to show obvious, prejudicial error). He also cannot show obvious error because nothing in the previously dismissed plea in abeyance or the uncharged arrest showed any bias against Defendant or a motive to fabricate the charges against him. Nothing in Defendant's proffer on either specific instance suggests any connection between Defendant and the victim's accusations in this case.

Defendant asserts that the victim's "acts of misconduct reveal her willingness to lie to the police and others by falsely incriminating [Defendant] based on her own ill-feelings and self-interests." Br. Aplt. 17. But while theft by deception and giving a false name to police might show a willingness to lie for personal gain or to escape punishment, they say nothing about a willingness "to falsely accuse" Defendant "based on ill-feelings." *Id.*

-32-

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